S258019	
Case No.	

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

KWANG K. SHEEN,

Plaintiff and Appellant

v

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., et al.

Defendant and Respondent

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION EIGHT, CASE NO. B289003
SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES
CASE NO. BC631510
THE HONORABLE JUDGE ROBERT L. HESS

Petition for Review

Noah Grynberg
State Bar No. 296080
Los Angeles Center for
Community Law and Action
1137 North Westmoreland Avenue, #16
Los Angeles, CA 90029
Telephone: (310) 866-7527
Email: noah.grynberg@laccla.org

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Appellant KWANG K. SHEEN

I. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does a mortgage servicer owe a borrower a duty of care to refrain from making material misrepresentations about the status of a foreclosure sale following the borrower's submission of, and the servicer's agreement to review, an application to modify a mortgage loan?

II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Since at least 2014, the law in California has been clear that a mortgage lender and servicer owe a borrower a common law duty to review an application for modification of a mortgage loan with ordinary care. Alvarez v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 941, 944–48; Daniels v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (2016) 246 Cal. App. 4th 1150, 1158 ("[W]e hold, among other conclusions, that: . . . a loan servicer may owe a duty of care to a borrower . . . even though its involvement in the loan does not exceed its conventional role."). In *Alvarez v*. BAC Home Loan Servicing, L.P., the Court of Appeal for the First Appellate District held that "a lender does owe a duty to a borrower to not make material misrepresentations about the status of an application for a loan modification or about the date, time, or status of a foreclosure sale." Id. at 946–47 (quoting Lueras v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 49, 68). Two years later, the Court of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District in Daniels v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc. agreed with *Alvarez* that "a loan servicer may owe a duty of care to a borrower . . . even though its involvement in the loan does

not exceed its conventional role." *Daniels*, 246 Cal.App.4th at 1158.

In this case, the Court of Appeal for the Second Appellate District, Division Eight, has explicitly disagreed with *Alvarez* and *Daniels* in a decision certified for publication and has thereby created a conflict of law among three separate Courts of Appeal that should be resolved by the Supreme Court.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff alleges in his Second Amended Complaint ("SAC") that he is a borrower who lost his home to foreclosure in October 2014. (3 Clerk's Transcript ("CT") 496 ¶ 49.) The home was located at 5224 Cheryl Ave., La Crescenta, California 91214 (the "Property"). (3 CT 487 ¶ 6.) In November 2005, Plaintiff obtained second- and third-lien residential mortgage loans (the "Second Loan" and "Third Loan", respectively) from Defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. ("Wells Fargo"). (3 CT 487 ¶¶ 7–8.) These loans were secured by the Property. (3 CT 487-488 ¶¶ 7–8.)

Plaintiff experienced tremendous financial difficulty in late 2008 and, in around 2009, missed a number of payments due on the Second and Third Loans. (3 CT 488 ¶ 9.) Wells Fargo caused to be recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under Deed of Trust (the "Notice of Default") on or about September 10, 2009, ostensibly in connection with the Second Loan. (3 CT 488 ¶ 9.)

On December 14, 2009, Wells Fargo caused to be recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale, again ostensibly in connection with the Second Loan. (3 CT 488 ¶ 10.) The Notice of Trustee's Sale stated

that the Property would be sold at auction on January 4, 2010. (3 CT 488 ¶ 10.) In or about the last week of December 2009, Wells Fargo caused the January 4, 2010 foreclosure sale of the Property to be postponed to February 3, 2010. (3 CT 488 ¶ 10.)

In late January 2010. Plaintiff and his legal representatives at the Asian Pacific American Legal Center of Southern California ("APALC") contacted Wells Fargo by email regarding the possibility of cancelling the foreclosure sale scheduled for February 3, 2010 so that Plaintiff could apply and be considered for modifications of the Second and Third Loans. (3 CT 488 ¶ 11.) A Wells Fargo representative replied to Plaintiff's legal representative on January 28, 2010, stating that Wells Fargo's Loss Mitigation department "is currently working on this matter." (3 CT 488 ¶ 11.) At the same time, Plaintiff submitted applications for modification of the Second and Third Loans. (3) CT 488 ¶ 12.) In or about the first week of February 2010, Wells Fargo cancelled all foreclosure proceedings that had previously been initiated in connection with the Second Loan. (3 CT 488 ¶ 13.)

On or about March 17, 2010, Wells Fargo sent Plaintiff two separate letters in connection with the Second and Third Loans, respectively. (3 CT 488 ¶ 15.) The first letter stated that it was being sent in reference to an account ending in the numbers "4658", which were the second-to-last four numbers of the Second Loan. (Id.) It addressed Plaintiff as follows, in part:

Due to the severe delinquency of your account, it has been charged off and the entire balance has been accelerated. Accordingly, your entire balance is now due and owing. In addition, we have reported your account as charged off to the credit reporting agencies to which we report. As a result of your account's charged off status, we will proceed with whatever action is deemed necessary to protect our interests. This may include, if applicable, placing your account with an outside collection agency or referring your account to an Attorney with instructions to take whatever action is necessary to collect this account. Please be advised that if Wells Fargo elects to pursue a legal judgment against you and is successful, the amount of the judgment may be further increased by court costs and attorney fees.

The letter stated that the date of the "charge-off" was February 25, 2010. (3 CT 488 ¶ 15.)

The second letter was almost identical to the first. The only difference was that the second letter stated that it was being sent in reference to an account ending in "6485", which were the second-to-last four numbers of the Third Loan, with a balance of \$87,396.86. (3 CT 488 ¶ 16.)

Plaintiff speaks almost no English. (3 CT 488 \P 17.) His primary language is Korean. (3 CT 488 \P 17.)

Plaintiff received the March 17, 2010 letters less than two months after he had submitted applications for modification of the Second and Third Loans, and while he was still waiting for a response to those applications. (3 CT 488 ¶ 18.) Plaintiff therefore believed that Wells Fargo sent the March 17, 2010 letters in response to his pending applications for mortgage modification. (3 CT 488 ¶ 19.) He believed that the letters meant that the Second

and Third Loans had been modified such that they were unsecured loans, that Wells Fargo had cancelled the February 3, 2010 foreclosure sale as a result of its plan to modify the Second and Third Loans, and that the Property would never be sold at a foreclosure auction as a result of these modifications. (3 CT 488 ¶ 19.)

Plaintiff believed that the March 17, 2010 letters reflected such a modification of the Second and Third Loans because of the statement in the letters that Wells Fargo might "refer[] your account to an Attorney" and that it might "pursue a legal judgment against you." (3 CT 488 ¶ 20.) Plaintiff believed that, pursuant to the modifications he thought he had received, Wells Fargo's remedy to collect the outstanding debt Plaintiff owed in connection with the Second and Third Loans was limited to pursuing a money judgment against Plaintiff in court, rather than selling Plaintiff's home at foreclosure. (3 CT 488 ¶ 20.)

Wells Fargo did not provide Plaintiff with a response to the January 2010 applications for modification of the Second and Third Loans following the March 17, 2010 letters. (3 CT 488 ¶ 21.) The March 17, 2010 letters were the only identifiable pieces of correspondence Plaintiff received from Wells Fargo in response to the applications. (3 CT 488 ¶ 21.)

In or about March 2010, Wells Fargo also contacted Plaintiff by phone. (3 CT 488 ¶ 22.) Plaintiff's wife Jong-Sin Sheen answered the call. During the call, a Wells Fargo representative told Ms. Sheen that there would be no more foreclosure sale of Plaintiff's home. (3 CT 488 ¶ 22.)

About a month later, Plaintiff received a letter from Wells Fargo dated April 23, 2010. (3 CT 488 ¶ 23.) The letter referred to the Second Loan and to a "Date of Charge-Off" of February 24, 2010 in the subject line above the body of the letter. (3 CT 488 ¶ 23.) The letter then stated:

In an effort to resolve your charged-off account, Wells Fargo recently attempted to contact you to discuss the repayment of your debt with one of our multiple payment options. Unfortunately, we have been either unable to reach you or unable to obtain an acceptable payment arrangement on your account.

. . .

Unless we receive a phone call from you within 15 days of this offer, we may take advantage of all remedies available to us to recover our balance in full, which may include outsourcing your account to a collection agency or referring your account to an attorney with instructions to take whatever action deemed necessary to collect this account.

(3 CT 488 ¶ 23.)

The April 23, 2010 letter further confirmed Plaintiff's understanding that the Second Loan had been modified such that it was now unsecured. (3 CT 488 ¶ 24.) Plaintiff interpreted the letter as a standard collections letter a consumer would receive in connection with an unsecured, unpaid debt, in particular because the letter made no direct mention of a possible foreclosure sale and instead referred directly to the intervention of a collection agency in connection with the Second Loan. (3 CT 488 ¶ 24.)

On November 22, 2010, Wells Fargo assigned the servicing rights to the Second Loan to Dove Creek. (3 CT 488 \P 28.) On

November 24, 2010, Wells Fargo also assigned its beneficial interest under the deed of trust securing the Second Loan to Dove Creek. (3 CT 488 ¶ 28.)

After a series of subsequent assignments, the beneficial interest in the Second Loan was assigned to Defendant Mirabella Investments Group, LLC ("Mirabella"). (3 CT 488 ¶¶ 29-31.) In April 2014, Mirabella recorded a Notice of Default stating that the Second Loan was in default. (3 CT 488 ¶ 31.) Next, in July 2014, Mirabella recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale stating that the Property would be sold at a public auction on August 22, 2014. (3 CT 488 ¶ 32.) Also in or about July 2014, Plaintiff received a letter from Mirabella stating that the Second Loan was in default. (3 CT 488 ¶ 33.)

On October 29, 2014, Plaintiff's home was sold at a trustee's sale. (3 CT $488 \ \P 49$.)

The trial court sustained Wells Fargo's demurrer to the Second Amended Complaint, holding both that Wells Fargo did not owe Plaintiff a duty of care and that Wells Fargo had not breached any duty of care. (4 CT 893-894; RT 20:15-26.)

In an opinion certified for publication, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's ruling. (Attach. A hereto.) The Court explicitly disagreed with prior precedent and held that a mortgage servicer does not owe a duty to a borrower to process a loan modification application with ordinary care.

No party filed a petition for rehearing following the decision by the Court of Appeal.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Summary of Argument

The Court of Appeal in this case created a conflict among the California Courts of Appeal regarding whether a mortgage servicer owes a borrower a duty to process a loan modification application with ordinary care. The Supreme Court should resolve the split, in light of the confusion that will result if the conflict is permitted to stand and especially in light of the frequency with which negligence claims against mortgage servicers are litigated in the lower courts.

- B. Review Should Be Granted to Resolve a Conflict Among the Courts of Appeal Regarding Whether Loan Servicers

 Owe Borrowers a Common Law Duty of Care.
 - 1. The general rule in California is that all persons are required to use ordinary care to prevent harm to others, and may be held liable for injuries resulting from a failure to use ordinary care absent a public policy weighing against the imposition of liability.

The basic principle of tort liability is that a person is responsible for injuries as a result of his lack of care. The California Supreme Court states that "[w]hile the question whether one owes a duty to another must be decided on a case-by-case basis, every case is governed by the rule of general

application that all persons are required to use ordinary care to prevent others from being injured as the result of their conduct." Weirum v. RKO General, Inc. (1975) 15 Cal. 3d 40, 46 This holding is consistent with section 1714 of the Civil Code, which provides: "[e]very one is responsible, not only for the result of his willful acts, but also for an injury occasioned to another by his want of ordinary care or skill in the management of his property or person. . . ." Civ. Code § 1714. Section 1714 "does not distinguish among injuries to one's person, one's property or one's financial interests." J'Aire Corp. v. Gregory (1979) 24 Cal. 3d 799, 806.

Further, "[a]lthough it is true that some exceptions have been made to the general principle that a person is liable for injuries caused by his failure to exercise reasonable care in the circumstances, it is clear that in the absence of a statutory provision declaring an exception to the fundamental principle enunciated by section 1714 of the Civil Code, no such exception should be made unless clearly supported by public policy." Rowland v. Christian (1968) 69 Cal. 2d 108, 112; see also Christensen v. Sup. Ct. (1991) 54 Cal. 3d 868, 885 ("In determining liability for negligence, we begin always with the command of Civil Code section 1714"; exceptions "are recognized only when clearly supported by public policy.").

¹ Petitioner addresses the Supreme Court's recent holding in the *Gas Leak Cases* on this issue in Section IV.B.4, *infra*.

The California Supreme Court held that courts must decide on a case-by-case basis whether an exception from the general rule provides grounds to depart from the basic principle of a duty of ordinary care. To make such a determination in cases involving a financial institution, courts weigh six factors: "[1] the extent to which the transaction was intended to affect the plaintiff, [2] the foreseeability of harm to him, [3] the degree of certainty that the plaintiff suffered injury, [4] the closeness of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the injury suffered, [5] the moral blame attached to the defendant's conduct, and [6] the policy of preventing future harm." Connor v. Great Western Sav. & Loan Ass'n (1968) 69 Cal. 2d 850, 865 (quoting Biakanja v. Irving (1958) 49 Cal. 2d 647, 650) (the "Biakanja" factors); see also Jolley v. Chase Home Finance, LLC (2013) 213 Cal. App. 4th 872, 899.

The California Supreme Court recently reconfirmed that determining whether a duty of care exists requires balancing a number of factors, see Beacon Residential Cmty. Assn. v. Skidmore, Owings & Merrill LLP (2014) 59 Cal. 4th 568, 581, and rejected invitations to ignore them. See, e.g., Stewart v. Cox (1961) 55 Cal. 2d 857, 863 ("The liability of a contractor or subcontractor must be determined by applying this general test rather than by arbitrarily placing them in a separate category subject to a special rule.").

2. The decision by the Court of Appeal in this case conflicts with prior law, establishes a split in authority over the imposition of negligence liability in

the mortgage modification context and will result in confusion and inconsistent rulings if the Supreme Court does not resolve the conflict.

Prior to the decision by the Court of Appeal in this case, it was also well-established in California that a mortgage loan servicer owes a borrower a common law duty of care. In *Alvarez*, the Court of Appeal for the First Appellate District held that "a lender does owe a duty to a borrower to not make material misrepresentations about the status of an application for a loan modification or about the date, time, or status of a foreclosure sale." Alvarez, 228 Cal.App.4th at 946–47 (quoting Lueras, 221 Cal.App.4th at 68). The plaintiffs in Alvarez had alleged negligence against their mortgage servicer following the servicer's negligent review of the plaintiffs' applications for loan modification. Id. at 943. The servicer "allegedly agreed to consider modification of the plaintiffs' loans" before reneging on its agreement. Id. at 948. The Alvarez plaintiffs alleged "that the mishandling of their applications 'caus[ed] them to lose title to their home, deterrence from seeking other remedies to address their default and/or unaffordable mortgage payments, damage to their credit, additional income tax liability, costs and expenses incurred to prevent or fight foreclosure, and other damages." *Id.* at 948-49.

The Court in *Alvarez* held that the plaintiffs' allegations supported a finding that the servicer owed the plaintiffs a duty of care, and that the servicer had breached its duty by failing to consider a modification of the plaintiffs' loans as promised. *Id.* at

946-49. The Court noted that "[i]t is foreseeable that a borrower might be harmed by an inaccurate or untimely communication about a foreclosure sale or about the status of a loan modification application, and the connection between the misrepresentation and the injury suffered could be very close." *Id.* at 947 (quoting *Lueras*, 221 Cal. App. 4th at 68–69).

Next, the court in *Alvarez* cited approvingly to a federal district court from the Northern District of California, which held that the factors identified in *Biakanja v. Irving* (1958) 49 Cal.2d 647, as relevant to determining whether a defendant is liable to a plaintiff for breach of a common law duty "weigh in favor of imposing a duty of care on a lender that undertakes to review a loan for potential modification." *Id.* at 948. The *Alvarez* Court held that, "because defendants allegedly agreed to consider modification of the plaintiffs' loans, the *Biakanja* factors clearly weigh in favor of a duty." *Alvarez*, 228 Cal. App. 4th at 948.

Additional Court of Appeal decisions also follow the well-worn principle of applying the *Biakanja* factors on a case-by-case basis, rather than relying on a general rule departing from the duty imposed under Civil Code § 1714. These factors remain the touchstone for ascertaining whether a duty of care is owed. *See*, *e.g.*, *Beacon Residential Cmty. Ass'n*, 59 Cal. 4th at 574, 578, 585-86.

Indeed, California law was well-settled prior to the Court of Appeal's decision in this case against blind reliance on the general rule to reject negligence claims in the mortgage servicing context, particularly in light of the changing relationship between modern mortgage servicers and their customers. See Jolley, 213 Cal. App. 4th at 903. Jolley cautioned that "courts should not rely mechanically on the 'general rule' that lenders owe no duty of care to their borrowers." Id. at 901 ("Nymark [v. Heart Federal Savings & Loan Association (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 1089] does not support the sweeping conclusion that a lender never owes a duty of care to a borrower. Rather, the Nymark court explained that the question of whether a lender owes such a duty requires 'the balancing of [the "Biakanja factors"].")

Even Nymark v. Heart Federal Savings & Loan Association, the case on which mortgage servicers often rely to argue that they owe no common law duty of care when processing applications for mortgage modification, does not establish the absence of a duty in all circumstances. Instead, Nymark's holding is limited to the loan origination context, "when the institution's involvement in the loan transaction does not exceed the scope of its conventional role as a mere lender of money." Nymark, 231 Cal. App. 3d at 1096. It does not provide a new test departing from the fundamental principles described by California Supreme Court precedent.

In *Nymark*, the Court of Appeal first identifies the specific factual circumstances addressed in that case: "[t]he parties have not identified, nor have we found, any California case specifically addressing whether a lender has a duty of care to a borrower in appraising the borrower's collateral to determine if it is adequate security for a loan." *Nymark*, 231 Cal. App. 3d at 1095-96.

Nymark then acknowledges that a financial institution owes no

duty of care when it does not exceed the scope of its conventional role as a mere lender of money. *Id.* at 1096. In holding that the defendant owed the plaintiff no duty of care, the court reasoned that "defendant performed the appraisal of plaintiff's property in the usual course and scope of its loan processing procedures to protect defendant's interest by satisfying it that the property provided adequate security for the loan." *Id.* Defendant did not conduct the appraisal to induce plaintiff to enter into the loan transaction; rather, defendant was simply "acting in its conventional role as a lender of money to ascertain the sufficiency of the collateral as security for the loan." *Id.* at 1096–97.

The *Nymark* court evaluated the *Biakanja* factors and found no duty should be imposed under the specific facts of the case. Providing particular emphasis on the public policy prong, the *Nymark* court stated:

[C]reation of such a duty would adversely affect consumers, particularly those seeking to acquire affordable housing. A lender which currently obtains a cursory appraisal at minimal cost to the borrower in order to satisfy itself that the collateral provides adequate security for the loan would be compelled by the threat of negligent appraisal liability to undertake a comprehensive examination of the collateral. The added cost of such a detailed appraisal undoubtedly would be passed on to the borrower. For housing loans, this consequence would be contrary to the public interest in reducing the cost of acquiring housing.

Id. at 1100.

In sum, *Nymark* faithfully followed California Supreme Court precedent to find no duty of care under the specific facts before it. But the *Nymark* court's analysis of the *Biakanja* factors concerns loan origination, not loan servicing. Loan servicing, particularly in its modern form, differs greatly from money lending, involving different actors, different rules, different incentives and different problems. As such, *Nymark* is not on point in this case. The better, and more complete, analysis of the issue as it related to the facts here appears in *Alvarez*, *Jolley*, and *Daniels*.

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