SUPREME COURT NO. S258019

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

KWANG K. SHEEN,

Plaintiff, Appellant and Petitioner

VS.

WELLS FARGO BANK, NA., et. al.,

Defendant and Respondent.

Court of Appeal No.

B289003

Superior Court No.

BC631510

Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court, County of Los Angeles Hon. Robert L. Hess, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.

KUTAK ROCK LLP Jeffrey S. Gerardo (SBN 146508 *Steven M. Dailey (SBN 163857) 5 Park Plaza, Suite 1500 Irvine, California 92614

Tele: (949) 417-0999 / Fax: (949) 417-5394 Email: <u>Steven.Dailey@KutakRock.com</u>

Attorneys for Respondent and Defendant, WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.

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

Petitioner filed his Petition for Review on September 16, 2019, claiming review should be granted "to resolve a conflict among the Courts

of Appeal regarding whether loan servicers owe borrowers a common law duty of care." (Petition, p. 15.)

III. THE FACTS OF THE CASE DO NOT SUPPORT PETITIONER'S ISSUE FOR REVIEW.

Petitioner's issue presented is whether a "mortgage servicer owe[s] a borrower a duty of care to refrain from making material misrepresentations about the status of a foreclosure sale following the borrower's submission of, and the servicer's agreement to review, an application to modify a mortgage loan." (Petition, p. 8.) The facts of this case, as pleaded against Wells Fargo, do not squarely place that issue before this Court.

No "material misrepresentations about the status of a foreclosure sale" by Wells Fargo were at issue in this case. This case was very narrow, as the Court of Appeal recognized. In its decision the court noted Petitioner "did not bring" claims for to following: "1. Breach of contract, 2. Negligent misrepresentation, 3) Promissory estoppel, or "Fraud." (Petition, Ex. "A", p. 7.) Petitioner's counsel at oral argument "Stressed to the trial court the suit's limited and precisely targeted nature." (Petition, Ex. "A", p. 7.) Negligent misrepresentation was purposefully not pleaded in this case, but the issue presented is broad as it relates to "material misrepresentations".

Wells Fargo was the former lender on the second and third loans. It originally owned those loans, it sent letters to Petitioner indicating the balances were accelerated, and there was an alleged oral representation that

no foreclosure sale would occur at that point. (Petition, pp. 10-12.) Petitioner's assumptions that his loan was modified and his conclusion that a foreclosure sale could *never* occur was just that, his own legal conclusion.

Petitioner's own allegations demonstrated Wells Fargo's sale of the second loan in 2010, and it had no role relating to that loan subsequent to that point. (Petition, pp. 10-12). In 2013 Wells Fargo cancelled the third loan.

The foreclosure sale occurred in 2014 by co-defendant, Mirabella and its servicer, FCI, due to Petitioner's continued default under the second loan, and following his unsuccessful attempts to modify the loan. Perhaps Petitioner claims that Mirabella or FCI made misrepresentations as to the foreclosure of the Property at points between 2010 and the 2014 foreclosure sale, but those defendants are not parties to this appeal. As to Wells Fargo, the issue presented for review is not supported by the facts of this particular case.

IV. THE FACTS OF PETITIONER'S CASE AGAINST FORMER LENDER WELLS FARGO DID NOT IMPLICATE CONDUCT EXCEEDING THE SCOPE OF A LENDER'S CONVENTIONAL ROLE.

Petitioner argues review is necessary "to resolve a conflict among the Courts of Appeal regarding whether loan servicers owe borrowers a common law duty of care." (Petition, p. 15.) However, Petitioner's particular case, as to former lender Wells Fargo, is not the appropriate case

to resolve any conflict within the State's courts. While the Superior Court and Court of Appeal made a finding that no legal duty was apparent in this case, the facts alleged against Wells Fargo were very attenuated, and there were no facts pleaded that Wells Fargo's conduct had any role in Petitioner's default.

The Court of Appeal's conclusion as to Wells Fargo was supported both by the standard analysis in *Nymark v. Heart Federal Savings & Loan* (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 1089, and the analysis in *Biakanja v. Irving* (1958) 49 Cal.2d 647. Under *Nymark*, Wells Fargo was acting within its conventional role as a lender of money, and no duty existed. (*Nymark*, at p. 1096.) Under *Biakanja*, a lack of certainty that Petitioner suffered harm, and an absence of any causal connection between Wells Fargo's conduct and any harm shown means that no duty of care would exist. (*Biakanja*, at p. 650 [listing the factors used to determine duty in the absence of privity between parties].) In short, the outcome would have been the same either way.

In applying the *Biakanja* test, the Courts of Appeal have placed significant weight on borrowers' allegations that their default was in some way caused by loan servicers' representations that default was a precondition for being considered for a loan modification. In *Daniels v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc.* (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 1150, 1159 the court found a legal duty existed upon facts that the lender lured the borrower into

default. The court stated: "The B of A employees 'led [appellants] to believe that they would be granted a loan modification if ... they became at least three months delinquent in their monthly mortgage payments.' Appellants, who until that time were current on their monthly payments, missed three payments at the behest of B of A." (*Daniels*, 246 Cal.App.4th at 1159). The *Daniels* court found the second, fourth and fifth *Biakanja* factors thus weighed in the borrower's favor. (*Id.* at 1182-83.)

In *Rossetta v. CitiMortgage*, *Inc.* (2018) 18 Cal.App.5th 628, the Court of Appeal found a legal duty existed, but not "merely because a lender receives or considers a loan modification application." Instead, the court stated:

[W]e find it significant that CitiMortgage allegedly refused to consider Rossetta's loan modification application until she was three months behind in her mortgage payments. By making default a condition of being considered for a loan modification, Citi-Mortgage did more than simply enhance its already overwhelming bargaining power; it arguably directed Rossetta's behavior in a way that potentially exceeds the role of a conventional lender. At a minimum, the alleged policy of making default a condition of being considered for a loan modification informs our application of the *Biakanja* factors.

(Rosetta, 18 Cal.App.5th at 640.)

These cases are in stark contrast to *Lueras v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 49,67, where the Court of Appeal stated, "If the lender did not place the borrower in a position creating the

need for a loan modification, then no moral blame would be attached to the lender's conduct."

In this case, Petitioner did not allege his former loans servicer, Wells Fargo, lured him into defaulting in any manner. He acknowledged he "[e]xperienced tremendous financial difficulty in late 2008 and, in around 2009, missed a number of payments due on the Second and Third Loans." (Petition, p. 9). The fact that Petitioner's default was caused solely by his own financial distress is key to distinguishing this case from those decisions which analyze the duty of care issue where a lender has induced a borrower into defaulting.

V. THE FACTS OF PETITIONER'S CASE AGAINST FORMER LENDER WELLS FARGO WERE TENUOUS AND THE COURTS COULD HAVE FOUND THE CLAIMS FAILED ON OTHER GROUNDS.

While the Superior Court and Court of Appeal made a finding that no legal duty was apparent in this case, the facts alleged against Wells Fargo were very attenuated. As discussed above, there were no facts pleaded that Wells Fargo's conduct had any role in Petitioner's default. Also, the fact that the Demurrer could have been sustained on many other grounds makes this case a particularly inappropriate matter upon which to resolve any conflict of cases.

A negligence claim as against Wells Fargo based in conduct relating to letters or a phone conversation in 2010 could have been found to be barred by the two-year statute of limitations. The sale occurred in 2014, and Plaintiff did not file the action until 2016. Also, Petitioner's claims could have failed for lack of any apparent injury proximately caused by Wells Fargo. Beyond this, Petitioner failed to disclose any claims as against Wells Fargo in his Chapter 13 bankruptcy proceeding in 2015. As the causes of action all accrued pre-petition, and were not disclosed as assets in the bankruptcy proceeding, judicial estoppel could have been applied to preclude assertion of the claims against Wells Fargo in the lower court. The case could have been found to fail on multiple other bases as to former servicer Wells Fargo. The facts of this case make it a poor one to be the basis to resolve any split at this level on the duty of care issue.

VI. THE DUTY OF CARE ISSUE IS NOT CURRENTLY OF GREAT IMPORTANCE TO BE DECIDED BY THIS COURT.

In addition to the fact that this is an inappropriate case in which to review Petitioner's duty of care issue, the current state of decline of foreclosures and foreclosure litigation, and the increase of availability of foreclosure alternative programs and borrower-protective legislation, suggests there is less and less of a need to decide this issue.

The mid-2000s witnessed a decrease in underwriting standards, coupled with a dramatic increase in the issuance of subprime mortgage

loans.¹ This, coupled with the most severe U.S. recession since the Great Depression², led to particularly bleak conditions for the California housing market. Property values dropped dramatically, and many California homeowners were unable to stay current on their loans, let alone sell or refinance. In 2010, at the peak of mortgage delinquencies, 11.5% of all California home loans were at least one payment behind, while 7.4% were in default 90 days or more.³ Foreclosures were occurring at record rates. In Southern California's six counties, by 2009, foreclosure filings had surged by 345% to average 133,243 a quarter.⁴ Foreclosure-related litigation increased tremendously.⁵ As an example, in 2010, counsel frequently representing borrowers, Damian Nassiri, said his lawfirm had filed about 100 lawsuits against mortgage lenders since 2007.⁶ He reported that most of

¹ Michael Simkovic, Competition and Crisis in Mortgage Securitization, 88 IND. L.J. 213, 225-27 (2013).

² 9 INTERNATIONAL REGULATION OF FINANCE AND INVESTMENT § 42:24. CFPB —Amendments to the 2013 Mortgage Rules Under the Truth in Lending Act (Regulation Z), 9 International Regulation of Finance and Investment § 42:24.

³ See CFPB, CFPB Mortgage Performance Trends (retrieved Sept. 25, 2019), publicly available https://www.consumerfinance.gov/data-research/mortgage-performance-trends/.

⁴ Jonathan Lansner, *Southern California's foreclosure mill runs at one-tenth its peak pace*, Orange County Register (April 16, 2017), publicly available https://www.dailynews.com/2017/04/17/southern-californias-foreclosure-mill-runs-at-one-tenth-its-peak-pace/.

⁵ See Schehr & Mitchell, THE HOME AFFORDABLE MODIFICATION PROGRAM AND A NEW WAVE OF CONSUMER FINANCE LITIGATION (June 2012) 91-Jun Mich. B.J. 38.

⁶ E. Scott Reckard, Lawsuits accuse lenders of sabotaging mortgage modifications, L.A. Times (Oct. 26, 2010), publicly available at

his firm's suits were accusing "lenders of dealing in bad faith with borrowers who have become delinquent on loans."

To aid defaulting homeowners, the federal government launched the Home Affordable Modification Program ("HAMP") in February 2009, which required participation of all major loan servicers.⁸ Implementation of HAMP was not without challenges, and major loan servicers experienced significant levels of non-compliance with HAMP guidelines and other governmental regulations.⁹ This lead to the National Mortgage Settlement and passage of the Homeowner Bill of Rights Act in California.¹⁰ Foreclosure-related litigation followed, and led some courts to conclude that loan servicers owed borrowers a duty of care in the loan modification application process. (See Alvarez, supra (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 941, 951 ["Although the provisions of HBOR had not yet become effective at the dates relevant to the present action, the legislation nonetheless 'sets forth policy considerations that should affect the assessment whether a duty of care was owed to [plaintiffs] at that time.""])

https://www.latimes.com/archives/la-xpm-2010-oct-26-la-fi-mortgage-lawsuits-20101026-story.html.

⁷ *Id*.

⁸ *Id*; U.S. Treasury, Supp. Directive 09-01 (April 6, 2009).

⁹ See U.S. Gov't Accountability Office, GAO-10-634, Troubled Asset Relief Program: Further Actions Needed to Fully and Equitably Implement Foreclosure Mitigation Programs (2010) pp. 20-21.

¹⁰ See United States v. Bank of America Corp. (D. D.C. April 4, 2012) No. 1:12-cv-00361-RMC (Consent Judgment); Senate Rules Com., Conf. Rept.

In the past few years, California's housing market economic circumstances have changed dramatically, reducing the duty of care issue to a question of less importance to pending and future litigation. In September 2010, the unemployment rate in California was 12.2%, and by August 2019 it lowered to 4.1%.¹¹ By November 2019, only 1.7% of California home loans are delinquent, and just 0.4% of home loans are more than 90 days delinquent.¹² The rate of mortgage delinquencies in California is tracking lower than the national average.¹³ Foreclosures are in steep decline as well, having fallen by 90% or more from their post-recession highs. 14 Protections for housing consumers has been actively legislated by amendments to the Homeowner Bill of Rights. CalHFA Mortgage Assistance Corporation was created to receive and disburse federal funding to relieve stress on qualifying California homeowners. 15 Through the Keep Your Home California programs, more than 84,000 Californians qualified for some assistance, and

_

No. 1 on Assembly Bill 278 (2011-2012 Reg. Sess.) (July 2, 2012), pp. 1-4, 14-20.

¹¹ See Employment Development Department, Labor Market Indicators (retrieved Sept. 25, 2019), publicly available at https://www.labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov/data/economic-indicators.html.

¹² See CFPB, CFPB Mortgage Performance Trends (retrieved Sept. 25, 2019), publicly available https://www.consumerfinance.gov/data-research/mortgage-performance-trends/.

 $^{^{13}}$ *Id*

¹⁴ Lansner, *Southern California's foreclosure mill runs at one-tenth its peak pace*, Orange County Register (April 16, 2017), publicly available https://www.dailynews.com/2017/04/17/southern-californias-foreclosure-mill-runs-at-one-tenth-its-peak-pace/.

more than \$2 Billion was provided to prevent foreclosures. 16 As a result of

these trends, comparatively few of the cases pending in California courts

raise the type of negligence claim in the loan modification context upon

which Petitioner sued in this case. Petitioner's duty of care issue is no

longer of great importance to any significant number of pending or likely

future cases. Any need for this Court's review has diminished significantly,

and is especially unwarranted on facts as are apparent in this case.

Moreover, since the advent of the foreclosure crisis, the foreclosure

process has been much more extensively regulated. The Homeowner Bill of

Rights and regulations promulgated by the Consumer Financial Protection

Bureau have extensively regulated the non-judicial foreclosure process. As

a result, the imposition of a general duty of care is unnecessary because

borrowers are protected by a raft of statutory and regulatory duties.

VII. CONCLUSION.

Respondent respectfully submits that review should be denied.